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Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the group are the development and the operation of the Portomaso Complex in
St. Julians, Malta. This complex includes the Hilton (Malta) and its convention centre, the Portomaso
Business Tower, residential apartments, a car park and commercial outlets.

Review of business

Revenue for the year under review stood at €125.85 million, an increase of €70.80 million or 128.6% over
the corresponding figure for 2017. This above-the-norm turnover pushed the group’s gross profit to reach
an all-time high of €67.17 million, 2.6 times the figure for last year. The operating profit likewise moved up
to €58.2 million, an increase of €41.23 million. Administrative costs, partly offset by other income
amounted to €8.97 million against last year’s €8.54 million. Net finance costs dropped by €364,928 to
€1.89 million maintaining the downward trend commenced a few years back. Profit for the year after
taxation therefore reached €45.40 million, four times its counterpart figure for 2017.

The group’s activities continued to be dominated by a number of one-time events in the property segment
which experienced a very busy year. Hospitality has once again returned a formidable performance.

Analysing the total revenue make-up, the superior performance within hospitality and ancillary services
enabled a higher revenue to reach €42.12 million, this on top of what had already been an excellent
2017. Revenue increased by €1.50 million over the previous year enabling this segment to make up
33.47% of the total versus last year’s 73.78%. This discrepancy between the years owes itself to the large
increase in income in the star performing property development segment with revenue up to €77.80
million, up by €69.49 million over the previous year, thus reaching 61.82% of total revenue. Rental
operation and complex management accounted for the rest of the turnover and stood at €5.93 million,
practically at the same level as last year. Reviewing profitability by segment, in line with turnover, the real
estate segment accounted for the larger part, both in absolute terms and by way of margin. This is
followed by the hotel and ancillary operations with a gross profit margin of 45.52%.

This year’s activity was superior to our forecast and budget as the group advanced the delivery of the
majority of the Laguna apartments. During the course of 2018, the group transferred the title to the office
block next to the Portomaso Business Tower to third parties and progressed with its contractual
obligations with respect to the delivery of the highly finished property, topping further the revenue from the
property segment of the group.

The main reason for the hospitality segment’s extraordinary performance was the tourism industry’s
outstanding year with record tourist numbers to the Island. This enabled us to reach an all-time high
revenue and profitability. Revenue from accommodation surpassed that of last year while F&B was only
marginally below that of 2017. This can be explained as room rates maintained their gradual upward
trend, however, occupancy retained the same level as last year. On the other hand, the F&B department
saw a lower incidence of meetings and hence, a lower contribution. It should be noted that the conference
business for 2018 was actually better than originally expected, yet below 2017 levels, which year was
bolstered by revenue related to the Malta’s Presidency of the Council of the EU which occurred during the
first six months of 2017. This level of business led to an above average result enabling Hilton to build
upon its competitive advantage amongst its peers. In fact, comparing the group’s hospitality KPI’s against
the MHRA data underlines the hotel’s superior performance returning results which were highly above
average and actually topping the KPI’s list for the local tourism industry.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued

Direct costs moved in line with revenue enabling a gross contribution of 63.20%, marginally above that of
the previous year, allowing the gross profit margin in the hospitality and ancillary segment to reach
45.52% against the previous year’s 43.88%. On the other hand, indirect costs rose only slightly over the
2017 so that operating profit surpassed the €11 million mark – a remarkable year indeed.

Real estate turnover as already indicated above, peaked to an all-time high of €77.80 million, a figure
which was made possible due to the coincidental sale of the Laguna apartments and the transfer of title
and partial delivery of the office block next to the Portomaso Business Tower which all occurred during the
course of 2018. Bearing in mind the premium property delivered, the contribution level was substantial in
both absolute terms and as a percentage of revenue. On the other hand, the gross profit margin was
higher as direct costs attributable to this activity segment were retained at a lower figure than last year- a
direct result of economies of scale. During the course of the year the company managed to deliver 40
units within the Laguna complex together with a substantial part of the office block next to the tower.

Revenue from rental operations and complex management totalled €5.93 million, a minimal drop of 3.17%
from 2017. The year’s performance led to an overall cost-to-revenue percentage of 54.12% against the
previous year’s 70.06%. In absolute terms, the total cost base shot up to €68.11 million, an increase of
76.60%, mainly due to property development costs which made up 42.68% of total costs, followed by
depreciation (8.21%), utilities (2.11%), operating supplies and ancillary charges (3.30%).

Net financing costs recorded a further drop from the previous year as our average cost of borrowing
computed upon end-of-year outstanding bank facilities and intercompany loans dropped from 3.84% to
3.38%. All this led to an all-time high profit before tax of €56.31 million practically four times that achieved
last year.

As a result of the year’s performance, the high EBITDA of €63.79.million enabled interest cover to
improve to an extraordinary 33.79 from last year’s 10.13, an outstanding ratio on what was already a
superb figure in 2017.

The group’s balance sheet totalled €266.91 million an increase of €68.09 million over 2017 with the main
shift originating from the revaluation of assets forming part of the hospitality and ancillary segment, mainly
the hotel which underwent an external value reassessment late in 2018. This followed the completion of
the bulk of the refurbishing programme at the hotel by year end and a forward-looking business plan. The
revaluation surplus amounted to €62.99 million. Considering the various asset categories in more detail
reveals additional fixed assets acquired during the year of €3.74 million netted off by a depreciation
charge of €5.00 million.

Investment property, on the other hand, recorded a drop of €5.32 million to €13.80 million due to the
transfer of cost of works with respect to the office block to inventories and the delivery of the Laguna
apartments as sales progressed so as to reduce stock to minimal levels. As reported last year it is worth
noting the fair open market value attributed by the directors to this investment property category is
estimated at €39.91 million versus a book value of €13.80 million. As in the past this is based on revised
present value figures of anticipated income streams from these properties as foreseeable to be generated
in future years.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued

Inventories dropped by €6.41 million to €17.39 million totally due to the release of apartments within the
Laguna for delivery and the honouring the group’s performance obligations related to the office block. It
is worth noting that during the year, new property annexed to the complex was acquired for the value of
€2.22million. Trade and other receivables increased by €3.43million, reflecting on one hand, the increase
in trade receivables in line with the higher turnover and amounts owed by fellow Tumas Group companies
to the group in the form of funds temporarily advanced to these companies as part of our treasury
function. The companies borrowing these funds do so on a short-term but revolving basis and cover their
exposure through general banking facilities.

Cash and cash equivalents shot up to €25.60 million more than doubling from last year, underlining the
inflow of funds with respect to the Laguna and other apartments delivered during the course of the year,
together with payments derived from the contractual rights on the office block. The overall working capital
position improved from what was already a very positive one to 3.16:1.

Group borrowings at €55.91 million recorded another decrease from the previous year of €2.76 million.
This has been achieved despite additional capital expenditure towards property, plant and equipment, and
investment property of circa €4.96 million undertaken during the year, mostly at the hotel together with
development works which went into the new office block and an apartment cluster currently under
construction within the complex. Practically all funds needed for these investments were in-house
generated. This enabled the company to efficiently use its own resources to decrease financing costs
while maintaining a very reasonable debt/equity ratio. Out of the above-mentioned outstanding
borrowings, practically all of this is beyond five years and classified as non-current. Due to the fact that
the majority of borrowings are through the capital markets, around 89.01% is at fixed rates and repayable
in line with the company’s long-term business plan. During the course of the year, the group reduced its
net debt position as noted above. Deferred tax liabilities, also classified as non-current liabilities,
increased substantially by €23.09 million over the previous year as a direct consequence of the
revaluation of property, plant and equipment, otherwise timing differences are minimal. Within current
liabilities, trade and other liabilities decreased by €17.64 million as advance deposits on property sales
were taken to revenue upon delivery of the relevant property. This was partly offset by higher trade
payables in line with the operating performance, both within the hospitality and property development
segments.

The group’s equity position thus improved substantially as a result of the year’s extraordinary profits
enabling retained earnings to leap to €50.47 million, an increase of €26.04 million over the previous year.
Revaluation reserves topped the €90.36 million mark, up by €39.20 million over December 2017. The
higher-than-average performance allowed the pay-out of higher dividends when compared to what is
usually paid out annually, however, still maintaining a very strong equity base of €154.48 million. In fact,
the net debt to equity multiple dropped once again from 2.23 in 2017 to 0.73 as at the end of the year
under review so as to demonstrate an even higher level of financial robustness. This augurs well for future
development needs within the group as cash flow investing requirements can be, up to a large extent, met
internally to the satisfaction of the various stakeholders. The strong balance sheet should go to mitigate
economic risks borne by the group and act as a buffer for any possible future negative performance in the
tourism industry, and to a lesser extent, the real estate market noting that the current stock of apartments
for sale is only a handful. The high level of profitability and liquidity should well secure future dividends
and our overall obligations to all stakeholders.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued

The group recognises that the key risk and uncertainty of its business is the potential downturn in the local
economy which can have a negative impact on both to the tourism and property development and rental
industries.

Outlook for the financial year ending 2018

Following this year, the forecast figures for 2019 will be overshadowed by the fact that property sales will
be much lower due to the minimal stock of apartments in hand, although the turnover figure should
include revenue from the further delivery upon our contractual obligations related to the transfer of the
office block which will proceed in 2019. The latter is in line with standard accounting practice as revenues
and costs are accounted for proportionately to the way works are carried out, and costs incurred, hence,
profits are accounted for in line with the delivery of the contractual performance obligations. Delivery of
the remaining works will probably occur towards the end of the current year and might spill to the initial
few months of the following. As for delivery of the remaining apartments in stock, we forecast this to be no
more than a couple. The apartments cluster referred to above should reach completion of the construction
stage by end of the year and finishing should be taken in hand immediately thereafter so that these can
then be placed on the market.

Reviewing the performance of the hospitality segment during the first quarter, one notes that this has
been close to budget, however, ushering in what could be a challenging year when compared to a top
performing 2018. Reviewing ancillary activities within the hospitality segment, the marina’s performance is
still overshadowed by construction and embellishing works which will therefore impact performance. On
the other hand, the car park and the tower lounge bar are expected to be in line with budget. Revenue
from rental operations follows on from last year as occupancy of both office and commercial spaces is full.
As from this year, we have seen the return of the space beneath the office block next to the tower to a full
year’s operation. In fact, operations in this area recommenced towards the end of 2018. Complex
management operations should proceed on the same basis as last year and are estimated to approach
breakeven level. Having said this, the new Laguna complex will add to the overall condominium outlay
and our complex management team are currently on a learning curve, endeavouring to reach the same
level of efficiency as with the rest of the complex for a full seamless integration.

As a result of the lack of real estate in stock, the group now reverts to more of an operation-based mode
set on two pillars, namely hospitality and rental and complex management. The overall financial result is
estimated to be very positive with a satisfactory rate of return expected across the segments. Considering
the Group’s property segment, besides the apartment cluster which is in construction phase, the next
major property development for the group will be undertaken through the group’s subsidiary company,
namely Halland Developments, which will construct the Halland residences. Planning permits are now in
hand, and demolishing works are planned to commence in the coming months. During the course of 2019,
excavation works and the laying of foundations are forecast to be carried out while the majority of
construction works with respect to the parking, apartments and ancillary services will follow in 2020.
Another project bearing the Portomaso brand to look forward to.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued

Financial risk management

The group’s and company's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. Refer to Note 2 in these financial statements.

Results and dividends

The income statements are set out on page 13. During the year the directors declared a net dividend of
€22,214,500 (2017: €3,214,500).

Directors

The directors of the company who held office during the year were:

Raymond Fenech
Emmanuel Fenech
Yorgen Fenech

The company’s Articles of Association do not require any directors to retire.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements

The directors are required by the Companies Act, 1995 to prepare financial statements which give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the parent company as at the end of each reporting
period and of the profit or loss for that period.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for:

 ensuring that the financial statements have been drawn up in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

 selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
 making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;
 ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is

inappropriate to presume that the group and the parent company will continue in business as a going
concern.

The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and the fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and that comply with
the Companies Act, 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and the
parent company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.
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Directors’ report - continued

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements - continued

The financial statements of Spinola Development Company Limited for the year ended 31 December
2018 are included in the Annual Report 2018, which is published in hard-copy printed form and may be
made available on the Tumas Group’s website. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the Annual Report on the website in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the
security of, the website. Access to information published on the group’s website is available in other
countries and jurisdictions, where legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from requirements or practice in Malta.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

Raymond Fenech Emmanuel Fenech
Director Director

Registered office:
Tumas Group Corporate Office
Level 3
Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso
St. Julians
Malta

29 April 2019
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Independent auditor’s report
To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion:

 Spinola Development Company Limited’s Group and the Parent Company, financial statements
(the ‘ financial statements’) give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and of the Group’s and Parent Company’s financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (‘IFRSs’) as adopted by the EU; and

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

What we have audited

Spinola Development Company Limited’s financial statements, set out on pages 11 to 68, comprise:

 the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

 the Consolidated and Parent Company income statements for the year then ended;

 the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

 the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;

 the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

 the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent company in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code)
together with the ethical requirements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant
Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these Codes.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the
Directors’ report (but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report theron),
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, including the
directors’ report.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

With respect to the directors’ report, we also considered whether the directors’ report includes the
disclosures required by Article 177 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386).

Based on the work we have performed, in our opinion:

 The information given in the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

 the directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386).

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material
misstatements in the directors’ report and other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386), and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and the
Parent company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or the Parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited - continued

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group and the Parent company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group or the Parent company to cease to continue as a
going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report - continued

To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Other matters on which we are required to report by exception

We also have responsibilities under the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) to report to you if, in our
opinion:

 Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or that returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us.

 The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

 We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

 Certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial
statements, giving the required particulars in our report.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
78, Mill Street
Qormi
Malta

Stefan Bonello
Partner

29 April 2019
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Statements of financial position

As at 31 December
Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 4 165,562,106 103,871,564 165,562,106 103,871,564
Investment property 5 13,804,632 19,122,753 13,804,632 19,122,753
Investments in subsidiaries 6 - - 118,791 118,791
Trade and other receivables 7 854,036 845,248 854,036 861,949

Total non-current assets 180,220,774 123,839,565 180,339,565 123,975,057

Current assets
Inventories 8 17,392,969 23,806,888 6,870,853 13,423,150
Trade and other receivables 7 41,457,686 38,033,232 39,705,313 35,510,829
Current tax assets 2,239,150 650,373 2,239,150 650,373
Cash and cash equivalents 9 25,598,993 12,488,541 25,541,105 12,461,303

Total current assets 86,688,798 74,979,034 74,356,421 62,045,655

Total assets 266,909,572 198,818,599 254,695,986 186,020,712
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Statements of financial position - continued

As at 31 December
Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital 10 13,652,805 13,652,805 13,652,805 13,652,805
Revaluation reserves 11 90,361,834 51,157,893 90,361,834 51,157,893
Retained earnings 50,468,586 24,427,290 39,182,099 14,685,722

Total equity 154,483,225 89,237,988 143,196,738 79,496,420

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 12 54,620,452 56,010,287 54,620,452 56,010,287
Trade and other payables 13 86,400 163,239 2,179,261 33,639
Deferred tax liabilities 14 30,282,531 7,191,032 29,435,750 6,355,076

Total non-current liabilities 84,989,383 63,364,558 86,235,463 62,399,002

Current liabilities
Borrowings 12 1,285,715 2,660,715 1,285,715 2,660,715
Trade and other payables 13 24,763,585 42,326,105 23,080,865 40,583,106
Current taxation 1,387,664 1,229,233 897,205 881,469

Total current liabilities 27,436,964 46,216,053 25,263,785 44,125,290

Total liabilities 112,426,347 109,580,611 111,499,248 106,524,292

Total equity and liabilities 266,909,572 198,818,599 254,695,986 186,020,712

The notes on pages 17 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 11 to 68 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 April
2019 and were signed on its behalf by:

Raymond Fenech Emmanuel Fenech
Director Director
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Income statements

Year ended 31 December
Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

Revenue 15 125,845,922 55,052,592 123,316,959 52,738,261
Cost of sales 16 (58,679,120) (29,536,443) (58,579,120) (29,536,443)

Gross profit 67,166,802 25,516,149 64,737,839 23,201,818
Administrative expenses 16 (9,431,073) (9,032,108) (9,192,440) (8,889,182)
Other income 465,228 486,357 465,228 486,357

Operating profit 58,200,957 16,970,398 56,010,627 14,798,993
Finance income 18 881,224 800,940 881,224 800,940
Finance costs 18 (2,769,332) (3,053,976) (2,769,332) (3,053,976)

Profit before tax 56,312,849 14,717,362 54,122,519 12,545,957
Tax expense 19 (10,908,587) (3,651,760) (10,263,176) (3,163,986)

Profit for the year 45,404,262 11,065,602 43,859,343 9,381,971

Statements of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December
Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

Profit for the year 45,404,262 11,065,602 43,859,343 9,381,971

Revaluation surplus
on land and buildings (net of 4,14
deferred tax) 39,612,000 - 39,612,000 -

Total comprehensive
income for the year 85,016,262 11,065,602 83,471,343 9,381,971

The notes on pages 17 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements
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Statements of changes in equity

Notes
Share

capital
Revaluation

reserves
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Group € € € €

Balance at 31 December 2016 13,652,805 51,378,300 16,355,781 81,386,886

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 11,065,602 11,065,602

Other comprehensive income:
Transfer of revaluation surplus arising upon

transfer of property stock 11,14 - (220,407) 220,407 -

Total comprehensive income - (220,407) 11,286,009 11,065,602

Transactions with owners
Dividends for 2017 20 - - (3,214,500) (3,214,500)

Balance at 31 December 2017 13,652,805 51,157,893 24,427,290 89,237,988

Balance at 1 January 2018 - as originally
stated 13,652,805 51,157,893 24,427,290 89,237,988

Impact of changes in accounting policies:

Transition adjustment upon adoption of
IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 1.26 - - 2,443,475 2,443,475

Balance at 1 January 2018 - as restated 13,652,805 51,157,893 26,870,765 91,681,463

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 45,404,262 45,404,262

Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation surplus on land and buildings

(net of deferred tax) 4,14 - 39,612,000 - 39,612,000

Transfer of revaluation surplus arising upon
transfer of property stock 11,14 (408,059) 408,059 -

Total comprehensive income - 39,203,941 45,812,321 85,016,262

Transactions with owners

Dividends for 2018 20 - - (22,214,500) (22,214,500)

Balance at 31 December 2018 13,652,805 90,361,834 50,468,586 154,483,225

The notes on pages 17 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of changes in equity - continued

Notes
Share

capital
Revaluation

reserves
Retained
earnings

Total
equity

Company € € € €

Balance at 31 December 2016 13,652,805 51,378,300 8,297,844 73,328,949

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 9,381,971 9,381,971

Other comprehensive income:
Transfer of revaluation surplus arising

upon transfer of property stock 11,14 - (220,407) 220,407 -

Total comprehensive income - (220,407) 9,602,378 9,381,971

Transactions with owners
Dividends for 2017 20 - - (3,214,500) (3,214,500)

Balance at 31 December 2017 13,652,805 51,157,893 14,685,722 79,496,420

Balance at 1 January 2018 - as originally
stated 13,652,805 51,157,893 14,685,722 79,496,420

Impact of changes in accounting policies:

Transition adjustment upon adoption of
IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 1.26 - - 2,443,475 2,443,475

Balance at 1 January 2018 - as restated 13,652,805 51,157,893 17,129,197 81,939,895

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 43,859,343 43,859,343

Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation surplus on land and buildings

(net of deferred tax) 4,14 - 39,612,000 - 39,612,000

Transfer of revaluation surplus arising upon
transfer of property stock 11,14 (408,059) 408,059 -

Total comprehensive income - 39,203,941 44,267,402 83,471,343

Transactions with owners

Dividends for 2018 20 - - (22,214,500) (22,214,500)

Balance at 31 December 2018 13,652,805 90,361,834 39,182,099 143,196,738

The notes on pages 17 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statements of cash flows

Year ended 31 December
Group Company

Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 21 58,124,133 13,479,378 55,362,430 11,944,366
Interest received 881,224 800,940 881,224 800,940
Interest paid (2,769,332) (3,053,976) (2,769,332) (3,053,976)
Net income tax paid (13,086,852) (3,286,294) (12,594,961) (2,753,606)

Net cash generated from operating
activities 43,149,173 7,940,048 40,879,361 6,937,724

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and
equipment and investment property (4,957,765) (6,657,517) (4,957,765) (6,657,517)

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment and investment
property - 5,960 - 5,960

Movement in non-current receivables (8,787) 2,347,239 7,913 3,329,652

Net cash used in investing activities (4,966,552) (4,304,318) (4,949,852) (3,321,905)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of bank borrowings (5,597,954) (5,379,842) (5,597,954) (5,379,842)
Proceeds from bank borrowings 2,817,124 5,655,525 2,817,124 5,655,525
Repayments of loans from fellow

subsidiary - (24,661,081) - (24,661,081)
Proceeds of loans from fellow

subsidiary - 25,281,486 - 25,281,486
Issue costs - (129,998) - (129,998)
Dividends paid 20 (22,214,500) (3,214,500) (22,214,500) (3,214,500)
Movement in non-current payables (76,839) (48,090) 2,145,623 (4,890)

Net cash used in financing activities (25,072,169) (2,496,500) (22,849,707) (2,453,300)

Net movement in cash and cash
equivalents 13,110,452 1,139,230 13,079,802 1,162,519

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 12,488,541 11,349,311 12,461,303 11,298,784

Cash and cash equivalents at end
of year 9 25,598,993 12,488,541 25,541,105 12,461,303

The notes on pages 17 to 68 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

1.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Spinola Development
Company Limited and its subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the
requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, 1995. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the fair valuation of the non-current asset category of property,
plant and equipment except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in the
process of applying the group’s accounting policies (Note 3 - Critical accounting estimates and
judgements).

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2018

In 2018, the group adopted amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are
mandatory for the group’s accounting period beginning on 1 January 2018. The adoption of IFRS
15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ resulted in changes to the group’s accounting
policies impacting the group’s financial performance and position. The group had to change its
accounting policies and make retrospective adjustments. The adoption of IFRS 9, ‘Financial
Instruments’, did not have a material impact other than resulted in changing its accounting policies
for financial assets.

The new accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1 below. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 15
and IFRS 9 is disclosed in Note 1.26. The other standards did not have any impact on the group’s
accounting policies and did not require retrospective adjustments.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published
by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements but are mandatory for the
group’s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2018. The group has not early adopted these
revisions to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the company’s directors are of
the opinion that, there are no requirements that will have a possible significant impact on the
group’s financial statements in the period of initial application including the adoption of IFRS 16.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the group has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than
one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertabile are considered when assessing whether the group controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
group.They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The group applies the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquire and the equity interests
issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed (identifiable
net assets) in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired. If this is less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired in
the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss (Note 1.6)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

In the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by
the cost method of accounting, that is at cost less impairment. Cost includes directly attributable
costs of the investments. Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion of the directors, there is an
impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in the value of an investment, it is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified. The results of
subsidiaries are reflected in the company’s separate financial statements only to the extent of
dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

A listing of the subsidiaries is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

1.3 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in these financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional
currency’). The financial statements are presented in euro which is the group’s and company’s
functional and presentation currency.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.3 Foreign currency translation - continued

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statements within
‘administrative expenses’.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at historical cost. Land and buildings, are
shown at fair value based on periodic valuations by qualified valuers, less subsequent depreciation
for buildings. Valuations are carried out on a regular basis such that the carrying amount of
property does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end
of the reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated
against the gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or
constructing a qualifying asset are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised
while acquisition or construction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased
once the asset is substantially complete, and is suspended if the development of the asset is
suspended.

Land and buildings is shown at market value, based on valuations by qualified valuers. Valuations
are carried out periodically when the directors consider it appropriate to do so such that the carrying
amount of land does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at
the statement of financial position date. Office, hotel and ancillary operational mechanical and
electrical equipment, furniture, fixtures and operational equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Assets in course of construction are not depreciated.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income
and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity. Decreases that offset previous
increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve directly in equity. All other
decreases are charged to profit or loss. Each year the difference between depreciation based on
the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the
asset’s original cost is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.4 Property, plant and equipment - continued

Freehold land is not depreciated as they are deemed to have an indefinite life. Depreciation on
other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

%
Buildings 2 - 14
Mechanical and electrical equipment 5 - 25
Furniture, fixtures and operational equipment 7 - 50

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are revalued, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 1.6).

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When a revalued asset is
sold, the amount is included in the revaluation reserve relating to the asset and is transferred to
retained earnings.

1.5 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising floors in the Portomaso Business Tower and
commercial outlets, are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the group.

The group adopts the cost model under IAS 40, ‘Investment property’, whereby investment property
is stated in the statement of financial position at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a
qualifying investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised
while acquisition or construction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased
once the asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is
suspended.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred. When part of an investment property is
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. The capitalised costs of buildings
is depreciated using the straight-line method over a maximum of one hundred years at most, in
accordance with their useful lives. Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

The fair value of these properties is disclosed in the financial statements and is based on active
market prices, taking into consideration the nature, location or condition of the specific asset.
These valuations are revised annually by the directors. A property’s carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 1.6).
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.5 Investment property - continued

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with
carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and
equipment. Its cost and accumulated amortisation at the date of the reclassification becomes its
cost and accumulated depreciation for subsequent accounting purposes. When the group decides
to dispose of an investment property without development, the group continues to treat the property
as an investment property. Similarly, if the group begins to redevelop an existing investment
property for continued future use as investment property, it remains an investment property during
the redevelopment.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has
changed, its cost and accumulated depreciation at the date of reclassification becomes its cost and
accumulated amortisation for subsequent accounting purposes.

Where an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
development with a view to sale, the property is transferred to inventories. A property’s deemed
cost for subsequent accounting inventories is its carrying amount at the date of change in use

1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.

1.7 Financial assets

Classification

The group classifies its financial assets as financial assets measured at amortised costs. The
classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. The group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost only if
both the following criteria are met:

- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and

- The contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.7 Financial assets - continued

Classification - continued

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit
margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the
date on which the group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Interest income on debt instruments measured at amortised cost from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of these instruments is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented
as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Impairment

The group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The group’s financial assets are subject
to the expected credit loss model.

Expected credit loss model

The group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

 debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

 other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.7 Financial assets - continued

Impairment - continued

Expected credit loss model - continued

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. The group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due, and it
considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the group in full, without recourse by the group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); or the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data such as significant
financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer, or a breach of contract such as a default or being more
than 90 days past due.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

Simplified approach model

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach required by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months
before 31 December 2018 or 1 January 2018, respectively, and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the liability of the customers to
settle the receivable. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among others, the
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor. Impaired debts are
derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and include transport and
handling costs, determined on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses.

Property held for development and resale

When the main object of a property project is the development for resale purposes, the asset is
classified in the financial statements as inventory. Any elements of the project which are identified
for business operation or long-term investments properties are transferred at their carrying amount
or fair value to property, plant and equipment or investment property when such identification is
made and the cost thereof can be reliably segregated.

The development property is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The purchase
cost of acquiring the property represents the cash equivalent value of the contracted price. In case
of land previously held as tangible non-current assets, the transfer value is the carrying value of the
land as last revalued prior to its transfer to inventories.

Cost comprises the purchase cost of acquiring the property together with other costs incurred
during its subsequent development by specifically identifying the cost of individual items including:

 The costs incurred on development works and construction works in progress, including
demolition, site clearance, excavation, construction and acquisition costs, together with the
expenses incidental to acquisition and costs of ancillary activities such as site security;

 The cost of various design and other studies conducted in connection with the project, together
with all other expenses incurred in connection therewith;

 Any borrowing costs, including imputed interests, attributable to the development phases of the
property project;

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
costs of completion and selling expenses.

Gains and losses on disposal of property inventories are determined by reference to their carrying
amount and are taken into account in determining gross profit. On disposal of a revalued asset,
amounts in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.9 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables comprise amounts due from customers for property sold or services performed
and rendered in the ordinary course of the group’s business. If collection is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less expected credit loss allowance (Note 1.7).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the
amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within cost of sales and administrative expenses.
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade and other
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against profit or
loss.

1.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at face value. In the
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held at call
with banks and bank overdrafts. In the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included
within borrowings in current liabilities.

1.11 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

1.12 Financial liabilities

The Group recognises a financial liability in its statement of financial position when it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group’s financial liabilities, other than
derivative contracts, are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, i.e. not at fair
value through profit or loss under IFRS 9. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The Group derecognises a financial
liability from its statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract or
arrangement is discharged, is cancelled or expires.

1.13 Trade and other payables

Trade payables comprise obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.14 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.

Issue costs incurred in connection with the issue of the secured bonds and loans from fellow
subsidiaries include mainly arraignment, manager fees and professional fees.

1.15 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.16 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Under this method the group is required to make provision for deferred income taxes on the
revaluation of certain property assets on the difference between the carrying values or financial
reporting purposes and their tax base. Such deferred tax is charged or credited directly to the
reserve.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.17 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognised as finance costs.

1.18 Revenue recognition

Revenues include all revenues from the ordinary business activities of the group. Ordinary activities
do not only refer to the core business but also to other recurring sales of goods or rendering of
services. Revenues are recorded net of value added tax. The group’s business includes property
sales, property rentals and sales of services in the hospitality industry, carpark, marina, tower bar
and complex management operations.

(a) Sale of goods and services

Revenues are recognised in accordance with the provision of goods or services, provided that
collectability of the consideration is probable.

IFRS 15 requires that at contract inception the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer are assessed and each promise to transfer to the customer the good or service is
identified as a performance obligation. Promises in a contract can be explicit or implicit if the
promises create a valid expectation to provide a good or service based on the customary business
practices, published policies, or specific statements.

A contract asset must be recognised if the group’s recorded revenue for fulfillment of a contractual
performance obligation before the customer paid consideration or before – irrespective of when
payment is due – the requirements for billing and thus the recognition of a receivable exist. The
group classifies a contract asset as accrued income.

A contract liability must be recognised when the customer paid consideration or a receivable from
the customer is due before the group fulfilled a contractual performance obligation and thus
recognised revenue. The group classifies the contract liabilities as advanced deposits or deferred
income.

IFRS 15 provides more detailed guidance on how to account for contract modifications. Changes
must be accounted for either as a retrospective change (creating either a catch up or deferral of
previously recorded revenues), prospectively with a reallocation of revenues amongst identified
performance obligations, or prospectively as separate contracts which will not require any
reallocation.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.18 Revenue recognition - continued

(a) Sale of goods and services - continued

Property sales

The group develops and sells properties for commercial and residential purposes. Revenue is
recognised when control over the property has been transferred to the client. The properties have
generally no alternative use for the group after legal title has passed to the customer due to
contractual restrictions. An enforceable right to payment does not arise until legal title has passed
to the customer. These transactions generally relate to property delivered in a finished stated. The
period for execution of these transaction generally exceeds 12 months but rarely goes beyond 24
months. The group considers the conditions set in the property transfer contract which includes the
transfer of the title of the property and all the related building and finishes as one performance
obligation. This is because the goods or services provided by the group are not separately
identifiable from other promises in the contract. In effect, the customer expects and has contracted
to receive the property in a finished state. Although the goods or services received by the customer
from the group are capable of being distinct (for e.g. the overall management of the project, site
preparation, construction, plumbing, electrical services and other finishing), these are all be
combined into one performance obligation.

The group recognises revenue from the point in time when the legal title has passed to the
customer until all the contractual performance obligation are executed and delivered. Generally, the
entity’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. The client controls the asset upon the transfer of property title. Therefore, as
the finishing works are being performed by the group, it is the customer who controls the assets
being created from such works. In measuring revenue over time, management measures its
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation, in order to determine the
timing of revenue recognition. The purpose of measuring progress towards satisfaction of a
performance obligation is to recognise revenue in a pattern that reflects the transfer of control of the
promised good or service to the customer.

On the allocation of the total contract transaction price to identified portions of performance
obligations, a portion of the total transaction price can be allocated to performance obligations
portions that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied at the end of the reporting period. These are
referred to as unfulfilled performance obligations and are the goods or services that the group is
obliged to provide to clients and customers during the remaining fixed term of the contract.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract and the consideration
is due when legal title has been transferred. In most cases, this give rise to contract liabilities in the
form of advance deposits for portion of the performance obligations not yet executed by the group
at the date of the contract. While deferred payment terms may be agreed in rare circumstances, the
deferral never exceeds twelve months. The transaction price is therefore not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.18 Revenue recognition - continued

(a) Sale of goods and services - continued

Property sales - continued

The group does not consider costs to fulfil contracts to be significant as costs in connection with
property sales will generally fall within the scope of IAS 2 – Inventories until disposal of the asset, at
which stage the asset recognised from capitalising the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract is
amortised on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of the transfer of the goods or services
to which the asset relates. Since the performance obligation will be satisfied over time, the group
release these costs using a method consistent with the method used to measure progress and
recognise revenue. The assumptions underlying the period over which the costs are expensed are
periodically reviewed and adjusted in line with observations. Termination of the contractual
relationship with the customer results in the immediate expensing of the remaining deferred costs.
Where the carrying amount of deferred costs exceeds the remaining consideration expected to be
received for the transfer of the related goods and services, less expected costs relating directly to
the transfer of these goods and services still to be incurred, the excess amount is similarly
immediately expensed.

Sales of services in the hospitality activity

Revenue from services is generally recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered, by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual
service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. Revenue arising on hospitality
activities are recognised when the service is performed and goods are supplied. Revenue is usually
in cash, credit card or on credit. The recorded revenue includes credit card fees payable for the
transaction.

Sales of goods - retail

Sales of goods are recognised when the group has delivered products to the customer and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does
not occur until the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and the
customer has accepted the products. Retail sales are usually in cash or by credit card. The
recorded revenue includes credit card fees payable for the transaction. Such fees are included in
finance costs. Restaurant and bar sales are recognised upon performance of the service.

Sales of services

Sales of services including income from marina, car park and complex management are recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are provided, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total
services to be provided.

Financing

The group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
consequence, the group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.18 Revenue recognition - continued

(b) Property rentals and related income

Rentals receivable, short-term lets receivable and premia charged to tenants of immovable property
are recognised in the period when the property is occupied. Premia are taken to the income
statement over the period of the leases to which they relate.

(c) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.19 Contract assets and liabilities

The timing of revenue recognition may differ from customer invoicing. Trade receivables presented
in the statement of financial position represent an unconditional right to receive consideration
(primarily cash), i.e. the services and goods promised to the customer have been transferred.

By contrast, contract assets mainly refer to amounts allocated per IFRS 15 as compensation for
goods or services provided to customers for which the right to collect payment is subject to
providing other services or goods under that same contract. These assets are classified and
disclosed as accrued income.

Contract liabilities represent amounts paid by customers before receiving the goods and/or services
promised in the contract. This is typically the case for advances received from clients or amounts
invoiced and paid for goods or services not transferred yet, such as contracts payable in advance.
These liabilities are classified and disclosed as advanced deposits or deferred income.

1.20 Institutional grants

Grants that compensate the company for expenses incurred are recognised in the income
statement on a systematic basis in the same reporting periods in which the expenses are incurred.
This compensation is disclosed in the same reporting line as the related expense.

Institutional grants are recognised in the statement of financial position initially as deferred income
when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the company for the cost of an asset are recognised in the income
statement on a systematic basis over the useful life of the asset to match the depreciation charge.
Capital grants are recorded as deferred income and released to the income statement over the
estimated life of the related assets.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.21 Finance income and costs

Finance income and costs are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing instruments on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method.

When a receivable is impaired, the group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate. Finance costs includes the effect of
amortising any difference between net proceeds and redemption value in respect of the group’s
borrowings.

1.22 Operating leases

Where the group is a lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment property in the statement of
financial position. They are depreciated over their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with
similar owned investment property. Rental income is recognised as it accrues, unless collectibility
is in doubt.

1.23 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing qualifying property,
plant and equipment, investment property or property held for development and resale are
capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or construction is
actively underway, during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is substantially
complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. All other borrowing costs
are expensed. Borrowing costs are recognised for all interest-bearing instruments on an accrual
basis using the effective interest method. Interest costs include the effect of amortising any
difference between initial net proceeds and redemption value in respect of the group’s interest-
bearing borrowings.

1.24 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the group’s and
company’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the company’s
shareholders.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.25 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017

1.25.1 Financial assets

Classification

The group classifies its financial assets (other than in the company’s case, investments in
subsidiaries) in the loans and receivables category. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the group provides money, goods or services
directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the asset. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than twelve months after the end of the reporting period. These are
classified as non-current assets. The group’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other
receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement of financial position (Notes 1.9 and
1.10).

Recognition and measurement

The group recognises a financial asset in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the company commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is
the initial measurement amount adjusted for the amortisation of any difference between the initial
and maturity amounts using the effective interest method.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets
have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership or has not retained control of the asset.

Impairment

The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. The group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists. The criteria that the group uses to
determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
 it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.25 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017 - continued

1.25.1 Financial assets - continued

Impairment - continued

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

1.25.2 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and services in the ordinary course of the group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added
tax or other sales taxes, returns, rebates and discounts.

The group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the group’s activities as described below.

Sales are recognised upon delivery of products or performance of services, and are included in the
financial statements as revenue. Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a) Property sales

Property sales are recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the property
being sold are effectively transferred to the buyer. This is generally considered to occur at the later
of the contract of sale and the date when all the group’s obligations relating to the property are
completed and the possession of the property can be transferred in the manner stipulated by the
contract of sale. Amounts received in respect of sales that have not yet been recognised in the
financial statements, due to the fact that the significant risks and rewards of ownership still rest with
the group, are treated as advance deposits received and included with current payables.

(b) Sales of services in the hospitality activity

Revenue from services is generally recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered, by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual
service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. Revenue arising on hospitality
activities are recognised when the service is performed and goods are supplied. Revenue is usually
in cash, credit card or on credit. The recorded revenue, includes credit card fees payable for the
transaction.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.25 Accounting policies applicable until 31 December 2017 - continued

1.25.2 Revenue recognition - continued

(c) Sales of goods - retail

Sales of goods are recognised when the group has delivered products to the customer and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does
not occur until the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and the
customer has accepted the products. Retail sales are usually in cash or by credit card. The
recorded revenue includes credit card fees payable for the transaction. Such fees are included in
finance costs. Restaurant and bar sales are recognised upon performance of the service.

(d) Sales of services

Sales of services including income from marina, car park and complex management are recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are provided, by reference to completion of the
specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total
services to be provided.

(e) Property rentals and related income

Rentals receivable, short-term lets receivable and premia charged to tenants of immovable property
are recognised in the period when the property is occupied. Premia are taken to the income
statement over the period of the leases to which they relate.

(f) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

1.26 Changes in accounting policies

This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, and IFRS 15,
‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ on the group’s financial statements.

(a) Impact on the financial statements

As a result of the changes in the group’s accounting policies and as explained in Note 1.26 (b)
below, IFRS 15 was adopted without restating comparative information. The reclassifications and
the adjustments arising from the new requirements are therefore not reflected in the statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in the opening statement of financial
position on 1 January 2018.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.26 Changes in accounting policies - continued

The following table shows the adjustments recognised for each individual line item. Line items that
were not affected by the changes have not been included. As a result, the sub-totals and totals
disclosed cannot be recalculated from the numbers provided.

Consolidated statement of financial position (extract)
1 January 2018

Based on 31 December
2017 figures as
originally stated

Impact of adoption of
IFRS 15 As restated

€ € €

ASSETS

Current assets
Inventories 23,806,888 (1,718,284) 22,088,604
Trade and other receivables 38,033,232 2,123,176 40,156,408

Total current assets 74,979,034 404,892 75,383,926

Total assets 198,818,599 404,892 199,223,491

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Retained earnings 24,427,290 2,443,475 26,870,765

Total equity 89,237,988 2,443,475 91,681,463

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 42,326,105 (2,501,000) 39,825,105

Total current liabilities 46,216,053 (2,501,000) 43,715,053

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 7,191,032 462,481 7,653,513

Total non-current liabilities 63,364,558 462,481 63,827,039

Total liabilities 109,580,611 (2,038,519) 107,542,092

As at 31 December 2017, the group received payments totalling €2,501,000 in the form of
advanced deposits for property sales which upon the adoption of IFRS 15 have been netted off
against trade debtors which results from the contracted obligation entered into by 1 January 2018
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.26 Changes in accounting policies - continued

(b) IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ – Impact of adoption

IFRS 15 sets out the requirements for recognising revenue and costs from contracts with
customers and includes extensive disclosure requirements. The standard requires entities to
apportion revenue earned from contracts to individual promises, or performance obligations, on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis, based on a five-step model focusing on:

 The identification of contracts, customers and contract amendments;
 The identification of distinct performance obligations (promises made by the supplier), their

reference price (individual selling price) and the transfer to the customer of control of
performance obligations continuously or at a point in time;

 The determination of the transaction price (consideration promised by the customer), its fixed
and variable components (and related recognition restrictions) and its allocation to the
performance obligations.

The group decided to adopt the new standard on a modified retrospective basis and the group
recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2018, i.e. the date of initial application. Under this
transition method the group did not restate prior year comparatives for the effect of IFRS 15 but
instead restated 1 January 2018 opening retained earnings for the full cumulative impact of
adopting this standard. The group utilised the following accounting options:

 The group applied the option for simplified initial application, limiting the retrospective
application of IFRS 15 to contracts that have not yet been completely fulfilled at the date of
initial application. The contracts that have not yet been completely fulfilled as of 1 January
2018 are accounted for as if they had been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 from the
beginning.

 A significant financing component is not considered for the amount and timing of revenue
recognition if the period between when a promised good or service is transferred to the
customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.

The group has adopted IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ from 1 January 2018
which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts recognised in
the financial statements. These related to property sales and related transactions. As outlined
previously, in accordance with the transition provisions in IFRS 15, the group has adopted the
new rules without restating comparative information. The adjustments arising from the new
requirements are therefore not reflected in the statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, but are recognised in the opening consolidated statement of financial position on 1 January
2018.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.26 Changes in accounting policies - continued

b) IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ – Impact of adoption – continued

The total impact on the Group’s retained earnings, restated by the impact of IFRS 15, as at 1
January 2018 is as follows:

€

Retained earnings – as originally stated - based on 31 December 2017 figures 24,427,290

Adjustments to retained earnings upon adoption of IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018:

Increase Revenue 4,624,177
Recognition of costs of sales directly attributable to revenue (1,718,284)
Taxation (462,418)

Retained earnings as restated 26,870,765

,

The following tables contain relevant line items from the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018 in accordance with IFRS 15 as well as the previous accounting
treatment in accordance with IAS 18:

Consolidated Statement of financial
position (extract) IFRS 15 IAS 18 Change

€ € €

ASSETS
Current assets
Inventory - 12,290,288 (12,290,288)
Trade and other debtors - 1,018,146 (1,018,146)
Current tax assets 2,312,355 5,354,228 (3,041,873)

2,312,355 18,662,662 (16,350,307)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,251,057 38,419,986 32,168,929

Consolidated Income statement
(extract)

IFRS 15 IAS 18 Change
€ € €

Revenue 125,845,922 93,676,993 32,168,929
Cost of sales (58,679,120) (45,370,686) (13,308,434)
Tax expense (10,908,587) (7,866,714) (3,041,873)
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies - continued

1.26 Changes in accounting policies - continued

(c) IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ - impact of adoption

IFRS 9 replaced the existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement; the group adopted IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, which is the date of initial application
of the standard. IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in accounting policies related to the classification
and measurement and impairment of financial assets. The group has taken advantage of the
exemption in IFRS 9 allowing it not to restate comparative information for prior periods with respect
to classification and measurement and impairment charges.

(i) Classification of Financial assets under IFRS 9

IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects
the business model in which assets are managed and their cash flow characteristics. It contains
three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) and Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL).
The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale.

The transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 did not have a material impact on the group’s measurement
models applied to its financial assets; the differences between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 consists solely of
reclassifications. Reclassification adjustments reflect the movement of balances between
categories of financial assets with no impact to shareholders’ equity. There is no change to the
carrying value of financial instruments as a result of reclassifications.

The application of IFRS 9 resulted in the reclassification of all the group’s financial assets from the
‘Loans and receivables’ category in IAS 39 to ‘Financial assets at amortised cost’ under IFRS 9.
These assets comprise loans, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents. The
new classification requirements have not had a material impact on the group’s accounting for loans
and receivables, which continued to be measured at amortised cost upon the adoption of IFRS 9,
and they did not have an impact on the classification of the group’s financial liabilities. The changes
in classification accordingly had no impact on the company’s equity and tax balances.

(ii) Impairment

From 1 January 2018 the group has to assess on a forward-looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. IFRS 9 replaced
the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model. The new impairment
model applies to the company’s financial assets measured at amortised cost. Under IFRS 9, credit
losses are recognised earlier than under IAS 39.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
expected credit losses are immaterial.

For trade receivables, the group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected
credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected impairment provision for all trade receivables. The
impact on the group of this change in the impairment model is not significant in view of the high
quality of the counterparties to which the company is exposed to credit risk, and the loss allowance
is not material.



SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

39

2. Financial risk management

2.1 Financial risk factors

The group’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The group’s overall risk management, covering risk exposures for all subsidiaries focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
group’s financial performance.

The board of directors provides principles for overall group risk management, as well as policies
covering risks referred to above and specific areas such as investment of excess liquidity. Risk
management is carried out by a central treasury department (group treasury) under policies
approved by the board of directors. The group did not make use of derivative financial instruments
to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and preceding financial years.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and
liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the respective group’s functional currency.

The group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the group’s purchases, a part
of which are denominated in the US dollar. Management does not consider foreign exchange risk
attributable to recognised liabilities arising from purchase transactions to be significant since
balances are settled within very short periods in accordance with the negotiated credit terms. Also
foreign exchange risk attributable to future transactions is not deemed to be material since the
group manages the risk by reflecting, as far as is practicable, the impact of exchange rate
movements registered with respect to purchases in the respective sales prices.

All the group’s loans and receivables, cash and cash equivalent and borrowings are denominated in
euro.

Accordingly, a sensitivity analysis for foreign exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and equity
would have been affected by changes in foreign exchange rates that were reasonably possible at
the end of reporting year is not deemed necessary.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The group does not have significant interest-bearing assets, and its income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The group’s interest rate
risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates, comprising bank
borrowings (Note 12), expose the group to cash flow interest rate risk. The group’s borrowings are
subject to an interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the Bank’s Base Rate.
Management monitors the level of floating rate borrowings as a measure of cash flow risk taken on.
Borrowings issued at fixed rates, consisting primarily of loans from fellow subsidiaries which are
carried at amortised cost (Note 12) and therefore do not expose the group to cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk.

Based on the above, management considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined
interest rate shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial.
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk principally arises from cash and cash equivalents comprising deposits with financial
institutions, and loans and advances to related parties, as well as credit exposures to clients and
customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The group’s and the
company’s principal exposures to credit risk as at the end of the reporting period are analysed as
follows and is equivalent to their carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes to the
financial statements. The figures disclosed in the table below in respect of trade and other
receivables exclude prepayments and advance payments on projects:

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period was:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Carrying amounts
Financial assets measured at amortised

(classified as loans and receivables in
2017):

Trade and other receivables (Note 7) 40,820,985 35,968,902 39,129,665 33,613,114
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9) 25,598,993 12,488,541 25,541,105 12,461,303

66,419,978 48,457,443 64,670,770 46,074,417

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the trade
receivables by type of customer was:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Property development and management 6,864,116 3,379,502 5,943,032 2,170,456
Hospitality 1,375,369 1,798,704 1,375,369 1,798,704

8,239,485 5,178,206 7,318,401 3,969,160

The group and the company holds collateral as security for the receivables within the property
related sector for an amount of €5,692,472 (2017: €1,215,000).
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

Trade and other receivables (including contract assets)

The group assesses the credit quality of its trade customers, the majority of which are unrated,
taking into account financial position, past experience and other factors. The group’s exposure to
credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. It has policies in
place to ensure that sales of goods and services are effected to customers with an appropriate
credit history. Standard credit terms are in place for individual clients, however, wherever possible,
new corporate customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the group’s standard
payment and service delivery terms and conditions are offered. The creditworthiness analysis for
new customers includes a review through external sources when available. The group monitors the
performance of its trade and other receivables on a regular basis to identify incurred collection
losses, which are inherent in the group’s debtors, taking into account historical experience in
collection of accounts receivable.

In view of the nature of the group’s activities and the market in which it operates, a limited number
of customers account for a certain percentage of the group’s trade and other receivables. Whilst no
individual customer or group of dependent customers is considered by management as a significant
concentration of credit risk with respect to contractual debts, these exposures are monitored and
reported more frequently and rigorously. These customers trade frequently with the respective
group undertakings and are deemed by management to have positive credit standing, usually
taking cognisance of the performance history without defaults.

The group manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that past due
amounts receivable from customers are within controlled parameters. The group’s trade and other
receivables, which are not credit impaired financial assets, are principally debts in respect of
transactions with customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Management does not
expect any significant losses from non-performance by these customers.

Impairment of trade and other receivables (including contract assets)

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates for contract assets.
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of time before the
reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The group
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. On that basis, the
loss allowance for the group and the company (upon adoption of IFRS 9) as at 31 December 2018
amounted to €303,329 and €151,274 and 1 January 2018 amounted to €468,338 and €370,989.
This assessment did not give rise to material difference upon the adoption of IFRS 9. No further
analysis of these loss allowances have been disclosed in these financial statements as the overall
allowances are not deemed material in the context of the group’s financial position and
performance.

The group established an allowance for impairment that represented its estimate of expected credit
losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The individually credit impaired trade receivables
mainly relate to a number of independent customers which are in unexpectedly difficult economic
situations and which are accordingly not meeting repayment obligations. Hence, provisions for
impairment in respect of credit impaired balances with corporate trade customers relate to entities
which are in adverse trading and operational circumstances. Reversals of provisions for
impairment of credit impaired receivables arise in those situations where customers recover from
unfavourable circumstances and accordingly start meeting repayment obligations. The group and
the company do not hold any significant collateral as security in respect of the credit impaired
assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net impairment
losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts written off are credited against the
same line item.

Cash and cash equivalents

The group principally banks with local and European financial institutions with high-quality standing
or rating.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss is insignificant.
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(b) Credit risk - continued

Loans receivable from subsidiaries and amounts due from subsidiaries

The group and the company’s receivables include loans receivable from subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries (Notes 7 and 13). The group monitors intra-group credit exposures at individual entity
level on a regular basis and ensures timely performance of these assets in the context of overall
group liquidity management. The group assesses the credit quality of these related parties taking
into account financial position, performance and other factors. The group takes cognisance of the
related party relationship with these entities and management does not expect any significant
losses from non-performance or default.

Loans receivable from subsidiary are categorised as Stage 1 for IFRS 9 purposes (i.e. performing)
in view of the factors highlighted above. The expected credit loss allowances on such loans are
based on the 12-month probability of default, capturing 12-month expected losses and hence are
considered insignificant.

(c) Liquidity risk

The group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its
financial liabilities, which comprise principally ‘trade and other payables’ and ‘interest-bearing
borrowings’ (Notes 13 and 12). Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash and committed credit lines to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet
the group’s obligations.

Management monitors liquidity risk by means of cash flow forecasts on the basis of expected cash
flows over a twelve month period detailed by the group segments to ensure that no additional
financing facilities are expected to be required over the coming year.

Moreover, annual detailed cash flow projections are prepared to assess the matching of cash
inflows and outflows arising from expected maturities of financial instruments. The group manages
its liquidity risk through this continuous assessment, coupled with the group’s committed borrowing
facilities (that it can access) to meet liquidity needs as referred to previously.

The carrying amounts of the group’s assets and liabilities are analysed into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date in the respective notes to the financial statements.

The following table analyses the group’s and company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date.
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(c) Liquidity risk - continued

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due
within twelve months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Carrying Contractual Within One to Over
Group amount cash flows one year five years five years

€ € € € €
31 December 2018
Bank borrowings 6,142,855 6,765,409 1,524,348 5,241,061 -
Loans from fellow subsidiary 49,763,312 66,056,644 2,237,500 8,956,130 54,863,014
Trade and other payables 18,185,770 18,185,770 18,185,770 - -

74,091,937 91,007,823 21,947,618 14,197,191 54,863,014

31 December 2017
Bank borrowings 8,923,685 9,863,603 2,976,588 5,868,812 1,018,203
Loans from fellow subsidiary 49,747,317 68,294,144 2,237,500 8,956,130 57,100,514
Trade and other payables 17,851,337 17,851,337 17,851,337 - -

76,522,339 96,009,084 23,065,425 14,824,942 58,118,717

Carrying Contractual Within One to Over
Company amount cash flows one year five years five years

€ € € € €
31 December 2018
Bank borrowings 6,142,855 6,765,409 1,524,348 5,241,061 -
Loans from fellow subsidiary 49,763,312 66,056,644 2,237,500 8,956,130 54,863,014
Trade and other payables 18,958,586 18,958,586 18,958,586 - -

74,864,753 91,780,639 22,720,434 14,197,191 54,863,014

31 December 2017
Bank borrowings 8,923,685 9,863,603 2,976,588 5,868,812 1,018,203
Loans from fellow subsidiary 49,747,317 68,294,144 2,237,500 8,956,130 57,100,514
Trade and other payables 16,385,509 16,385,509 16,385,509 - -

75,056,511 94,543,256 21,599,597 14,824,942 58,118,717
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Capital risk management

The capital of the group is managed with a view of maintaining a controlled relationship between
capital and structural borrowings in order to maintain an optimal capital structure which reduces the
cost of capital. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as structural
borrowings divided by total capital.

Total capital is measured by reference to the amounts reflected in the consolidated financial
statements where the property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts that are
regularly assessed and updated as necessary. Reported equity is adjusted for fair value surplus
(net of deferred tax) over the notional carrying amount of investment property.

Furthermore, the group has not taken account of potential fair value surpluses related to a number
of undeveloped properties within its inventory portfolio. These properties comprise namely, the
Halland land and the directium dominium related to the Portomaso land. The directors consider the
potential increase over the recorded base cost from the respective revaluations as latent equity
which will be realized when the respective property earning potential is crystalized.

Structural borrowings include all interest bearing borrowings stated net of any funds made available
for the repayment of such liabilities. Borrowings include loans from a fellow subsidiary (Tumas
Investments p.l.c.) whose unsecured bonds and bank borrowings are secured and guaranteed by
the company.
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2. Financial risk management - continued

2.2 Capital risk management - continued

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Group
2018 2017

€ €

Total borrowings (Note 12) 55,906,167 58,671,002
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9) (25,598,993) (12,488,541)
Less: Group treasury funds (Note 7) (11,756,380) (16,530,562)

Net borrowings 18,550,794 29,651,899

Reported equity 154,483,225 89,237,988
Adjustment for fair value on investment property 23,493,137 17,315,600

Total equity 177,976,362 106,553,588

Total capital 196,527,156 136,205,487

Gearing 9% 22%

2.3 Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The group uses as a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Refer to Note 5 for details
of such techniques.

Financial instruments not carried at fair values

The carrying amounts of cash at bank, trade receivables (net of impairment provisions), payables
and borrowings are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for
disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial instruments.

As at the end of the reporting period, the fair values of financial assets and liabilities, approximate
the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would
warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1.

As referred to in Note 4 to the financial statements, the group’s and company’s land and buildings
category of property, plant and equipment was re-valued on 31 December 2018 by the directors on
the basis of professional advice, which considers forecasted net potential returns for the property.
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4. Property, plant and equipment

Mechanical Furniture,
Land Assets not and fixtures and

and yet electrical operational
buildings commissioned equipment equipment Total

Group and Company € € € € €

At 1 January 2017
Cost or valuation 83,265,094 1,168,363 29,756,757 22,408,625 136,598,839
Accumulated depreciation (404,857) - (17,818,696) (9,984,539) (28,208,092)

Net book amount 82,860,237 1,168,363 11,938,061 12,424,086 108,390,747

Year ended
31 December 2017

Opening net book amount 82,860,237 1,168,363 11,938,061 12,424,086 108,390,747
Commissioned assets

and additions 178,922 (878,779) 777,608 812,801 890,552
Disposals (22,892) (13,210) (402,248) (114,602) (552,952)
Depreciation charge (1,523,561) - (1,656,165) (2,056,722) (5,236,448)
Depreciation released on

Disposal 6,600 - 339,557 33,508 379,665

Closing net book amount 81,499,306 276,374 10,996,813 11,099,071 103,871,564

At 31 December 2017
Cost or valuation 83,421,124 276,374 30,132,117 23,106,824 136,936,439
Accumulated depreciation (1,921,818) - (19,135,304) (12,007,753) (33,064,875)

Net book amount 81,499,306 276,374 10,996,813 11,099,071 103,871,564

Year ended
31 December 2018

Opening net book amount 81,499,306 276,374 10,996,813 11,099,071 103,871,564

Commissioned assets
and additions 1,867,435 351,221 381,838 1,142,005 3,742,499

Disposals (10,192) - - (28,992) (39,184)
Depreciation charge (1,573,589) - (1,630,011) (1,800,990) (5,004,590)
Revaluation surplus (Note 11) 62,989,000 - - - 62,989,000
Depreciation released on

disposal 788 - - 2,029 2,817

Closing net book amount 144,772,748 627,595 9,748,640 10,413,123 165,562,106

At 31 December 2018
Cost or valuation 144,772,748 627,595 30,513,955 24,219,837 200,134,135
Accumulated depreciation - - (20,765,315) (13,806,714) (34,572,029)

Net book amount 144,772,748 627,595 9,748,640 10,413,123 165,562,106
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4. Property, plant and equipment - continued

Fair valuation of property

On 31 December 2018, the directors approved the revaluation of the group’s and company’s
property, plant and equipment, which comprises the Hilton Hotel, the Portomaso car park and
related ancillary operations, after assessing the valuations prepared by professionally qualified
valuers. The valuation is based on the discounted cash flow methodology. The book value of the
property has been adjusted to the revaluation and the resultant surplus, net of applicable deferred
income taxes, has been credited to the revaluation reserve in other comprehensive income within
shareholders’ equity (Note 11).

The group and the company are required to analyse non-financial assets carried at fair value by
level of the fair value hierarchy within which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised
in their entirety (Level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined
as fair value measurements using:

 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);
 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);
 Inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

(Level 3).

The group’s and the company’s land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment, comprises
the properties described above; investment property (Note 5) comprises principally the Portomaso
Business Towers and commercial outlets leased out principally to third parties. Certain areas within
this portfolio are also rented out to fellow subsidiaries within the Tumas group. All the recurring
property fair value measurements at 31 December 2018 use significant unobservable inputs and
are accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy.

The group’s and the company’s policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy
levels as of the beginning of the reporting period. There were no transfers between different levels
of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended 31 December 2018.

A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of land and buildings for recurring
fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the value hierarchy is reflected in the table
above. Besides the above noted revaluation surplus the other movements reflect additions,
disposals and depreciation for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Valuation processes

The valuations of the properties are performed regularly taking into consideration valuation reports
prepared by qualified valuers. These reports are based on both:

 information provided by the group which is derived from the group’s financial systems and is
subject to the group’s overall control environment; and

 assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers – the assumptions are typically market
related. These are based on professional judgement and market observation.

The information provided to the valuers, together with the assumptions and the valuation models
used by the valuers, are reviewed by the board of directors and top officials within the group’s
finance function. This includes a review of fair value movements over the period.



SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

50

4. Property, plant and equipment - continued

Valuation techniques

Given the specific nature of these assets, the valuations of the Level 3 property have been
performed by reference to valuation models. These valuation models include:

 in the case of the Hilton Hotel, the Portomaso car park and related ancillary operations
classified as property, plant and equipment, the property, plant and equipment’s discounted
projected cash flows; and

 in the case of the Portomaso Business Tower and commercial outlets leased out and classified
as investment property, the annual rental value earned, capitalised at a rate ranging from 6% to
12% that reflects the risks inherent in the utilisation of the specific properties.

The future cash flows from operating the Hilton Hotel and related ancillary operations (including the
Portomaso car park) have been derived from financial forecasts assessed in relation to past
performance and the industry’s general outlook. The significant inputs to this approach include:

Net cash inflows based on the actual operating net cash inflows generated and projected
forwards for a ten year period. These cash flows take into consideration
periodic capital expenditure based on expected refurbishment costs
that will be incurred over the period of projections.

Growth rate based on management’s estimated average growth in the hotel’s
operating cash flows; and

Discount rate reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of cash flows, and based on current market risk free rates,
an equity market risk premium and other risk premiums attached to an
investment in the property being valued including any element of
projection risk inherent in the projected future cash flows;

Terminal value based on the properties’ net operating cash flows at the end of the ten
year projection period, and capitalised at a capitalisation rate that
reflects the properties’ actual location, size and quality and taking into
account market data at the valuation date.

The significant unobservable inputs in the valuation of the Portomaso Business Tower and
commercial outlets leased out include the average annual rental value of the properties, and a
capitalisation rate that reflects the properties’ actual location, size and quality and taking into
account market data at the valuation date.

Information about fair value measurements of property, plant and equipment using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) include pre tax net cash flows of €13 million with an average growth
rate of 2% discounted at an average rate of 10.25%
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4. Property, plant and equipment - continued

In respect of these valuations, the higher the pre-tax operating cash inflows, growth rate, and
terminal value, the higher the fair value. Conversely, the lower the discount rate, the estimated
refurbishment costs, and capitalisation rate used in calculating the terminal value, the higher the fair
value.

available to a REO for financing such an operation.
As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of land within property, plant and equipment
amounts to €67,400,000 (2017: €55,922,218). The carrying amount of land would have been
€863,468 (2017: €863,468) had the assets been included in the financial statements at cost.

Depreciation charge of €5,004,590 (2017: €5,236,448) is included in the group’s and company’s
income statements as follows: €4,982,637 (2017: €5,215,924) in cost of sales and €21,953 (2017:
€20,524) in administrative expenses.

Borrowings are secured by the group’s property, plant and equipment (Note 12).

5. Investment property

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €
Year ended 31 December
Opening net book amount 19,122,753 13,735,195
Additions 1,215,266 5,766,965
Transfer (from)/to investment property (5,927,099) 245,004
Disposals (20,462) (6,391)
Depreciation charge (586,620) (618,343)
Depreciation released on disposal 794 323

Closing net book amount 13,804,632 19,122,753

At 31 December
Cost or valuation 22,869,687 27,601,982
Accumulated depreciation (9,065,055) (8,479,229)

Net book amount 13,804,632 19,122,753

As at 1 January 2017, the cost and accumulated depreciation of the group’s and company’s
investment property amounted to €21,596,404 and €7,861,209 respectively.

Borrowings are secured by the group’s investment property (Note 12).

Depreciation charge of €586,620 (2017: €618,343) is included in cost of sales.

The fair open market value of investment property as at 31 December 2018 is estimated by the
directors at €39,908,117 (2017: €44,894,672) on the basis of the present value of contracted and
anticipated income streams from the property concerned.

The vast majority of the above noted investment property is presently leased out under operating
leases to third parties and related parties within the Tumas Group.
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5. Investment property - continued

The following amounts have been recognised in the income statements:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Rental income 3,702,955 3,372,245 1,300,000 1,300,000
Direct operating and administrative
expenses (778,188) (689,692) (647,195) (662,864)

6. Investments in subsidiaries

Company
2018 2017

€ €
At 31 December
Opening and closing cost and net

book amount 118,791 118,791

Details of the above investments held in subsidiaries at 31 December is shown below:

Registered Class of Percentage of
office shares held shares held

2018 2017
% %

Portomaso Leasing
Company Limited

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,
Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso
St. Julians
Malta

Ordinary shares 100 100

Halland Developments
Company Limited

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,
Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso
St. Julians
Malta

Ordinary shares 100 100

Premium Real Estate
Investment Limited

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,
Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso
St. Julians
Malta

Ordinary shares 99 99
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7. Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €
Non-current
Amounts owed by parents 854,036 845,248 854,036 845,248
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - - 16,701

854,036 845,248 854,036 861,949

Current
Trade receivables 8,239,485 5,178,206 7,318,401 3,969,160
Amounts owed by parent 11,127,590 5,219,850 11,127,590 5,219,850
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - 61,260 87,201
Amounts owed by fellow
subsidiaries 20,061,149 24,062,414 19,229,807 22,811,864

Amounts owed by related parties 428,250 430,374 428,250 430,374
Other receivables 110,475 232,810 110,321 232,716
Advance payments on projects 953,867 656,837 953,867 656,837
Prepayments and accrued income 536,870 2,252,741 475,817 2,102,827

41,457,686 38,033,232 39,705,313 35,510,829

Total trade and other receivables 42,311,722 38,878,480 40,559,349 36,372,778

Amounts owed by parents, subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, and
are repayable on demand. Certain advances bear interest at an average rate of 2%. The directors
do not expect that related amounts disclosed as non-current are settled within the next twelve
months. The company's exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other receivables is disclosed
in Note 2.

Included within amounts owed by fellow subsidiaries and parents are funds of €11,756,380 (2017:
€16,530,562) which have been advanced as part of the Tumas Group treasury function. These
amounts can be re-allocated to the company’s banking accounts after year end at the company’s
request.

Receivables above are stated net of provision for impairment of receivables:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Trade receivables 303,329 468,338 151,274 370,989

Advanced payments on projects relate to funds advanced to suppliers not yet utilised for
development works as at year end. These mainly relate to new projects entered into by the group.

As disclosed in accounting policy 1.18 and 1.19 the group classifies contract assets as accrued
income. Upon adoption of IFRS 15 no re-measurement was deemed necessary.
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7. Trade and other receivables - continued

The provision for impairment of receivables for the year is disclosed in Note 16 and is included in
the income statement as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Administrative expenses (165,009) (96,474) (219,715) (10,839)

The group’s exposure to credit and currency risks and impairment losses relating to trade
receivables are disclosed in Note 2.

During 2018, the group was required to revise its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for all
classes of assets. The amount of expected loss to be provided for in accordance with IFRS 9 was
not deemed material and thus it was not reflected in the group’s financial assets.

8. Inventories

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Property held for resale 16,606,629 23,002,897 6,084,513 12,619,159
Food and beverage 230,026 242,061 230,026 242,061
Consumables 556,314 561,930 556,314 561,930

17,392,969 23,806,888 6,870,853 13,423,150

Assets transferred from property held for resale upon change in intended use was as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Transferred (from)/to investment
property (Note 5) (5,927,099) 245,004 (5,927,099) 245,004

Borrowings are secured by the group’s property held for resale (Note 12).
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9. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the year end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Cash at bank and in hand 25,598,993 12,488,541 25,541,105 12,461,303

During 2018, the group was required to revise its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for all
classes of assets. The amount of expected loss to be provided for in accordance with IFRS 9 was
not deemed material and thus it was not reflected in the group’s financial assets.

10. Share capital

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €

Authorised, Issued and fully paid
1,164,687 ordinary “A” shares of €1 each 1,164,687 1,164,687
6,988,119 ordinary “B” shares of €1 each 6,988,119 6,988,119
5,499,999 redeemable 6% preference shares of €1 each 5,499,999 5,499,999

13,652,805 13,652,805
-

Each ordinary share entitles the holder thereof to one vote at general meeting of the company. The
ordinary shares shall rank pari passu in all respects independently of the letter by which they are
denoted. Redeemable preference shares shall not carry any voting rights.
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11. Revaluation reserves

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €
Surplus arising on revaluation of land within:

Property, plant and equipment 89,170,649 49,558,649
Investment property 1,191,185 1,191,185
Property held for resale - 408,059

Revaluation reserves at end of year 90,361,834 51,157,893

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 55,058,747 55,058,747
Revaluation surplus arising during the year (Note 4) 62,989,000 -

118,047,747 55,058,747
Deferred taxation (Note 14) (28,877,098) (5,500,098)

At 31 December 89,170,649 49,558,649

Revaluation of investment property
At the beginning of year, before deferred taxation 1,339,584 1,339,584
Deferred taxation (Note 14) (148,399) (148,399)

At 31 December 1,191,185 1,191,185

Revaluation of property held for resale
At the beginning of year, before deferred taxation 420,301 665,198
Disposals of property stock (420,301) (244,897)

- 420,301
Deferred taxation (Note 14) - (12,242)

At 31 December - 408,059

The revaluation reserves are non-distributable reserves.
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12. Borrowings

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €

Non-current
Bank loans 4,857,140 6,262,970
Loans from fellow subsidiary 49,763,312 49,747,317

54,620,452 56,010,287

Current
Bank loans 1,285,715 2,660,715

1,285,715 2,660,715

Total borrowings 55,906,167 58,671,002

The bank loans and overdrafts are secured by:

(a) general and special hypothecs over the group’s assets;
(b) general hypothecs and guarantees provided by fellow subsidiaries;
(c) pledges on the group’s insurance policies;
(d) letters of undertaking.

The group’s and company’s banking facilities as at 31 December 2018 amounted to €9,063,845
(2017: €26,268,979).

Loans from fellow subsidiary are disclosed at the value of the proceeds less the net book amount of
the issue costs, as follows:

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €

Face value of loans from fellow subsidiary 50,000,000 50,000,000

Issue costs 318,430 318,430
Accumulated amortisation (81,742) (65,747)

Closing net book amount 236,688 252,683

Amortised cost at 31 December 49,763,312 49,747,317
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12. Borrowings - continued

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Tumas Group issued 6.2% bonds maturing between
2017 and 2020 for an amount of €25,000,000 through Tumas Investments p.l.c. The net proceeds
have been utilised by the company for the repayment of the loan granted by Tumas Investments
p.l.c. in 2002, for the repayment of the private placement issued by the company in 2004 and its
general financing needs. The company has guaranteed payment of all interest and capital relating
thereto. On 10 July 2017, the directors exercised the early redemption of the bond and redeemed
€25,000,000 6.2% bonds through the issue of a new bond referred to below.

By virtue of an offering memorandum dated 7 July 2014, the group issued 5% bonds maturing in
2024 for an amount of €25,000,000 through Tumas Investments plc. The bonds are guaranteed by
the company, which has bound itself jointly and severally liable for the payment of the bonds and
interest thereon, pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions in the offering memorandum.

By virtue of an offering memorandum dated 29 May 2017, the group issued 3.75% bonds maturing
in 2027 for an amount of €25,000,000 through Tumas Investments plc. The bonds are guaranteed
by the company, which has bound itself jointly and severally liable for the payment of the bonds and
interest thereon, pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions in the offering memorandum.

Proceeds for these bonds have been advanced to the company through loans from fellow
subsidiary.

The interest rate exposure of borrowings was as follows:

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €

Total borrowings:
At fixed rates 49,763,312 49,747,317
At floating rates 6,142,855 8,923,685

55,906,167 58,671,002

Weighted average effective interest rates at the end of the reporting period date:

Group and Company
2018 2017

Bank loans 4.4% 4.2%
Loans from fellow subsidiaries 4.5% 4.5%

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the group’s and company’s interest-
bearing loans and borrowings. For more information about the groups’ and company’s exposure to
interest rate and liquidity risk, see Note 2.
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13. Trade and other payables

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €
Non-current

Amounts owed to subsidiaries - - 2,179,261 -

Deferred income 86,400 129,600 - -

Deferred institutional grant - 33,639 - 33,639

86,400 163,239 2,179,261 33,639

Current
Trade payables 3,735,749 1,500,698 3,723,413 1,459,728
Advance deposits 6,630,555 24,470,285 6,267,880 24,193,114
Capital and other payables 5,856,433 9,044,067 5,856,433 9,044,067
Deferred institutional grant 33,660 4,483 33,660 4,483
Amounts owed to related parties 296,959 95,360 296,959 95,360
Indirect and other taxation 599,961 249,273 483,615 123,908
Accruals and deferred income 7,610,268 6,961,939 6,418,905 5,662,446

24,763,585 42,326,105 23,080,865 40,583,106

Total trade and other payables 24,849,985 42,489,344 25,260,126 40,616,745

Amounts owed to related parties are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.

Institutional grants relate to funds advanced directly by the Government of Malta or other
institutions to the company, co-financing its capital expenditure on the property, plant and
equipment. Such funds are treated as deferred income and are credited to the profit and loss
account on a systematic basis over the useful lives of the assets. The closing amount relates to the
deferred portion of these grants to be credited to the profit and loss account on a systematic basis
over the remaining useful life of the property, plant and equipment owned by the company.

As disclosed in accounting policy 1.18 and 1.19, the group classified contract liabilities as advanced
deposits and deferred income. Upon the adoption of IFRS 15 contract liabilities amounting to
€2,501,000 were re-measured as stated in Note 1.26.

The group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed
in Note 2.
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14. Deferred taxation

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

At beginning of year 7,191,032 7,343,741 6,355,076 6,507,785
Effect of adoption of IFRS 15
(Note 1.26) 462,418 - 462,418 -

As restated 7,653,450 7,343,741 6,817,494 6,507,785

Deferred tax on temporary differences
arising on depreciation of non-current
assets (Note 19) (391,233) (132,013) (391,233) (132,013)

Deferred tax on disposal of property
stock (Notes 11,19) (12,242) (24,490) (12,242) (24,490)

Deferred tax on temporary differences
arising on provisions (Note 19) 117,974 3,794 107,149 3,794

Deferred tax on revaluation surplus
(Note 11) 23,377,000 - 23,377,000 -

Deferred tax upon recognition of sale of
property in accordance with tax rules
(Note 19) (462,418) - (462,418) -

At 31 December 30,282,531 7,191,032 29,435,750 6,355,076

The balance at 31 December represents temporary differences on:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €
Revaluation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 11) 28,877,098 5,500,098 28,877,098 5,500,098

Revaluation of investment property
(Note 11) 148,399 148,399 148,399 148,399

Revaluation of property held for resale
(Note 11) 900,000 912,242 - 12,242

Depreciation of non-current assets 463,180 854,413 463,180 854,413
Provisions (106,146) (224,120) (52,927) (160,076)

30,282,531 7,191,032 29,435,750 6,355,076

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted by the end of the
reporting period. The principal tax rate used is 35% (2017: 35%), with the exception of deferred
taxation on the fair valuation of non-depreciable property which as from 2015 is computed on the
basis applicable to disposals of immovable property, that is, tax effect of 10% of the transfer value.

The hospitality arm of the group has been availing itself of investment aid under the various
investment tax credit schemes that were applicable for hotels during 2017 and 2018.
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15. Revenue

The group’s operations consists of the ownership of prime tourism and leisure properties, which
include the operation of a hotel, the development of residential, rental and commercial property for
trading and renting purposes and the provision of ancillary services to this industry. All these
operations are conducted locally.

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Hospitality and ancillary services 42,115,009 40,616,124 42,115,009 40,616,124
Property development 77,800,406 8,311,668 77,800,406 8,311,668
Rental operations 3,739,816 3,524,295 1,300,000 1,300,000
Complex management operations 2,190,691 2,600,505 2,101,544 2,510,469

125,845,922 55,052,592 123,316,959 52,738,261

Unfulfilled performance obligations

As at 31 December 2018 the group and company assigned €23,123,351 of the transaction price to
unfulfilled performance obligations. Unfulfilled performance obligations are the goods or services
that the group is obliged to provide to clients and customer during the remaining fixed term of the
contract. As allowed by the simplification procedure in IFRS 15, these disclosures are only related
to performance obligations with an initial term greater than one year.

On the allocation of the total contract transaction price to identified performance obligations, a
portion of the total transaction price can be allocated to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied at the end of the reporting period. As outlined previously, the group
has elected to apply certain available practical expedients when disclosing unfulfilled performance
obligations, including the option to exclude expected revenues from unsatisfied obligations of
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or less.

The assumptions underlying the period over which the costs to fulfill contracts are expensed are
periodically reviewed and adjusted in line with observations. Termination of the contractual
relationship with the customer results in the immediate expensing of the remaining deferred costs.
Where the carrying amount of deferred costs exceeds the remaining consideration expected to be
received for the transfer of the related goods and services, less expected costs relating directly to
the transfer of these goods and services still to be incurred, the excess amount is similarly
immediately expensed.
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16. Expenses by nature

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Employee benefit expense (Note 17) 11,858,131 11,203,916 11,858,131 11,203,916
Depreciation on:
- Property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 5,004,590 5,236,448 5,004,590 5,236,448
- Investment property (Note 5) 586,620 618,343 586,620 618,343
Property development costs 29,066,926 2,837,533 29,066,926 2,837,533
Operating supplies and related expenses 2,248,803 1,930,433 2,248,802 1,930,433
Utilities 1,436,343 2,034,501 1,436,343 2,034,501
Operators charges 2,574,449 2,412,520 2,574,449 2,412,520
Decrease in provisions for
impairment of receivables (Note 7) (165,009) (96,474) (219,715) (10,839)

Management fees 670,012 515,842 670,012 515,842
Commissions payable 3,283,952 322,955 3,283,952 322,955
Other expenses 11,545,376 11,552,534 11,261,449 11,323,973

Total cost of sales, administrative
expenses 68,110,193 38,568,551 67,771,560 38,425,625

Auditor’s fees

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial periods ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 relate to the following:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Annual statutory audit 58,200 41,950 52,700 37,700
Other assurance services 9,500 9,280 9,500 9,280
Tax advisory services 3,000 3,000 2,000 2,000
Other non-audit services - 45,960 - 45,960

70,700 100,190 64,200 94,940
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17. Employee benefit expense

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €

Wages and salaries 11,445,736 10,835,170
Social security costs 822,396 755,998

12,268,131 11,591,168
Recharged to fellow subsidiaries (410,001) (387,252)

11,858,131 11,203,916

The average number of persons employed by the group and company during the year were:

Group and Company
2018 2017

Direct 383 371
Indirect 106 102
Administration 75 73

564 546

18. Finance income and costs

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Finance income
Interest from fellow subsidiaries 288,173 247,620 288,173 247,620
Interest from parent 202,740 130,529 202,740 130,529
Bank interest 348,166 393,197 348,166 393,197
Other finance income 42,145 29,594 42,145 29,594

881,224 800,940 881,224 800,940

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €
Finance costs and similar charges
Bank loans and overdrafts 147,233 178,058
Loans from fellow subsidiaries 2,241,795 2,526,636
Amortisation of issue transaction costs 29,510 38,149
Other finance charges 350,794 311,133

2,769,332 3,053,976
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19. Tax expense

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Current tax expense:
on taxable profit subject to tax at 35% 2,980,282 2,576,991 2,780,186 2,485,528
on taxable profit subject to tax at 15% 434,490 396,311 - -
on taxable income subject to tax at 10% 8,241,734 831,167 8,241,734 831,167

Deferred tax income (Note 14) (767,919) (152,709) (758,744) (152,709)

Tax expense 10,908,587 3,651,760 10,263,176 3,163,986

The tax on the group’s and company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that
would arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Profit before tax 56,312,849 14,717,362 54,122,519 12,545,957

Tax on profit at 35% 19,709,497 5,151,077 18,942,882 4,391,085

Tax effect of:
Maintenance allowance on rental income

attributable to immovable property (121,826) (118,018) (91,000) (91,000)
Expenses not allowable for tax purposes 294,301 178,505 216,528 234,088

Under provision in deferred tax - 62,448 - 62,448

Over provision of current tax (497,511) - (492,363) -

Impact of change in tax rules on property

sales (7,813,956) (659,471) (7,813,956) (659,471)

Investment tax credits for the year (486,673) (748,674) (486,673) (748,674)

Tax rules on release of revaluation on

property stock (12,242) (24,490) (12,242) (24,490)

Property tax rules on rental income (163,003) (189,617) - -

Tax expense 10,908,587 3,651,760 10,263,176 3,163,986
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20. Dividends

Group and Company
2018 2017

€ €
Dividends on ordinary shares:

Distribution from Immovable Property account
Gross dividend on ordinary shares 27,426,772 4,615,385
Tax at source at 35% (5,426,772) (1,615,385)

Net dividends 22,000,000 3,000,000

Dividends per share €2.70 €0.37

Dividend on preference shares:

Distribution from Immovable Property account
Gross dividend on redeemable 6% preference shares 330,000 330,000
Tax at source at 35% (115,500) (115,500)

Net dividends 214,500 214,500

Total net dividends 22,214,500 3,214,500

21. Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Operating profit 58,200,957 16,970,398 56,010,627 14,798,993

Adjustments for:
Depreciation on:
- Property, plant and equipment (Note 4) 5,004,590 5,236,448 5,004,590 5,236,448
- Investment property (Note 5) 586,620 618,343 586,620 618,343
Net loss on disposal of investment property
and property, plant and equipment 56,035 46,841 56,035 46,841

Amortisation of issue costs 15,995 38,149 15,995 38,149

Movement in provision for impairment of
trade and other receivables (Note 7) (165,009) (96,474) (219,715) (10,839)

Changes in working capital:

Inventories 10,622,734 (2,272,041) 10,761,112 (2,210,577)
Trade and other receivables 1,364,731 (15,724,260) 649,407 (15,139,885)
Trade and other payables (17,562,520) 8,661,974 (17,502,241) 8,566,893

Cash generated from operations 58,124,133 13,479,378 55,362,430 11,944,366
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21. Cash generated from operations - continued

Net debt reconciliation

All the movements in the company’s net debt related only to cash flow movements and disclosed as
part of the financing activities in the statement of cash flows on page 16.

22. Commitments

Capital commitments

At 31 December the group and company had capital commitments not provided for in these
financial statements as follows:

Group and Company

Contracted
Not

contracted Contracted
Not

Contracted
2018 2017

€ € € €

Inventory (property development) 4,128,684 2,883,915 1,104,552 4,454,785
Non-current assets 121,100 3,600,553 149,617 10,405,986

4,249,784 6,484,468 1,254,169 14,860,771

Operating lease commitments – where the group and the company are lessors

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable property operating leases
are as follows:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Not later than 1 year 3,064,496 2,876,747 1,300,000 1,300,000
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 7,464,403 7,350,852 1,300,000 2,600,000
Later than 5 years 2,324,775 2,557,374 - -

12,853,674 12,784,973 2,600,000 3,900,000

The company’s leases relate to an operating lease with a subsidiary. Refer to Note 5.

23. Contingencies

At 31 December 2018, the company had guarantees of €55,554,589 (2017: €65,098,000) issued on
behalf of other fellow subsidiaries’ bank facilities. The guarantees are supported by general and
special hypothecs over the company’s assets.
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24. Related party transactions

The company forms part of the Tumas Group of Companies. All companies forming part of the
Tumas Group are related parties since these companies are all ultimately owned by Tumas Group
Company Limited which is considered by the directors to be the ultimate controlling party. Trading
transactions between these companies include items which are normally encountered in a group
context. The group is ultimately fully owned by members of the Fenech family, who are therefore
considered to be related parties.

Related parties also include foreign Hilton hotels and related affiliates. Trading transactions with
these related parties are entered into on a regular basis as a result of normal trading transactions,
and mainly relate to corporate costs, management fees and operators’ charges.

The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Group Company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €
Income from services
Property sales - 939,012 - 939,012
Rents receivable from subsidiary - - 1,300,000 1,150,000
Rents receivable from fellow subsidiary 800,264 699,430 - -
Maintenance fees receivable from
subsidiary - - 590,431 602,137

Expenditure for goods and services
Net interest and similar charges payable
to related parties 1,750,882 2,148,487 1,750,882 2,148,487

Management fees charged by
fellow subsidiaries 670,012 515,842 670,012 515,842

Operators’ charges and other fees payable
to other related parties 2,574,449 2,327,512 2,574,449 2,327,512

Payroll recharges 410,001 387,252 410,001 387,252

Year end balances arising from related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 7, 13 and 17 to the
financial statements.

25. Statutory information

Spinola Development Company Limited is a limited liability company and is incorporated in Malta.

The immediate parent company of Spinola Development Company Limited is Spinola Investments
Limited, a company registered in Malta, with its registered address at Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3, Portomaso Business Tower, Portomaso, St. Julians, Malta. Spinola Investments
Limited is exempt from the preparation of consolidated accounts by virtue of section 174(1)(a) of
the Companies Act, 1995.

The ultimate parent company of Spinola Development Company Limited is Tumas Group Company
Limited, a company registered in Malta, with its registered address at Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3, Portomaso Business Tower, Portomaso, St. Julians, Malta.

The ultimate controlling parties of Spinola Development Company Limited are the spouse and
descendents of the group’s deceased founder, Mr. Thomas Fenech.



SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2018

68

26. Comparative information

Comparative figures disclosed in the main components of these financial statements have been
reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation format for the purpose of fairer
presentation.




